

# Established and emerging players in phospholipid scrambling: A structural perspective

Heitor Gobbi Sebinelli, Camille Syska, Alenka Čopič, Guillaume Lenoir

### ► To cite this version:

Heitor Gobbi Sebinelli, Camille Syska, Alenka Čopič, Guillaume Lenoir. Established and emerging players in phospholipid scrambling: A structural perspective. Biochimie, 2024, 227, pp.111 - 122. 10.1016/j.biochi.2024.09.008 . hal-04910969

### HAL Id: hal-04910969 https://hal.science/hal-04910969v1

Submitted on 24 Jan 2025

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

#### Biochimie 227 (2024) 111-122

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### Biochimie

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biochi

# Established and emerging players in phospholipid scrambling: A structural perspective

Heitor Gobbi Sebinelli <sup>a, 1</sup>, Camille Syska <sup>b, 1</sup>, Alenka Čopič <sup>b</sup>, Guillaume Lenoir <sup>a, \*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Université Paris-Saclay, CEA, CNRS, Institute for Integrative Biology of the Cell, Gif-sur-Yvette, France <sup>b</sup> Centre de Recherche en Biologie Cellulaire de Montpellier (CRBM), Université de Montpellier, CNRS, 34293, Montpellier, Cedex 05, France

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 May 2024 Received in revised form 16 September 2024 Accepted 17 September 2024 Available online 18 September 2024

Handling Editor: C. Forest

Keywords: Lipid scramblases Transbilayer lipid asymmetry Autophagy Molecular dynamics simulations Cryo-electron microscopy

#### ABSTRACT

The maintenance of a diverse and non-homogeneous lipid composition in cell membranes is crucial for a multitude of cellular processes. One important example is transbilayer lipid asymmetry, which refers to a difference in lipid composition between the two leaflets of a cellular membrane. Transbilayer asymmetry is especially pronounced at the plasma membrane, where at resting state, negatively-charged phospholipids such as phosphatidylserine (PS) are almost exclusively restricted to the cytosolic leaflet, whereas sphingolipids are mostly found in the exoplasmic leaflet. Transbilayer movement of lipids is inherently slow, and for a fast cellular response, for example during apoptosis, transmembrane proteins termed scramblases facilitate the movement of polar/charged lipid headgroups through the membrane interior. In recent years, an expanding number of proteins from diverse families have been suggested to possess a lipid scramblase activity. Members of TMEM16 and XKR proteins have been implicated in blood clotting and apoptosis, whereas the scrambling activity of ATG9 and TMEM41B/VMP1 proteins contributes to the synthesis of autophagosomal membrane during autophagy. Structural studies, in vitro reconstitution of lipid scrambling, and molecular dynamics simulations have significantly advanced our understanding of the molecular mechanisms of lipid scrambling and helped delineate potential lipid transport pathways through the membrane. A number of examples also suggest that lipid scrambling activity can be combined with another activity, as is the case for TMEM16 proteins, which also function as ion channels, rhodopsin in the photoreceptor membrane, and possibly other G-protein coupled receptors.

© 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	112
2.	The TMEM16 family of lipid scramblases	112
	2.1. Lipid permeation through the hydrophilic subunit cavity	114
	2.2. TMEM16-induced membrane deformations and out-of-the-groove transport	114
3.	The XKR family of lipid scramblases	114
	3.1. Architecture	115
	3.2. What do the structures tell us about the lipid transport pathway?	115
4.	G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) as moonlighting phospholipid scramblases	
	4.1. Phospholipid scrambling by opsin	116
	4.2. Contribution of MD simulations	116
	4.3. Modulation of GPCR lipid scrambling by cholesterol	116
5.	New scramblases identified in non-vesicular lipid transport pathways	
	5.1. Structure and mechanism of ATG9/Atg9 scramblases	117
	5.2. Interplay between scramblases and inter-organelle lipid transport	118

\* Corresponding author.
 *E-mail address:* guillaume.lenoir@i2bc.paris-saclay.fr (G. Lenoir).
 <sup>1</sup> Equal contribution.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2024.09.008

0300-9084/© 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).







5.	3. Insights into TMEM41B/VMP1 scramblase structure and function	. 118
5.	4. Lipid scrambling at the outer mitochondrial membrane	. 118
С	oncluding remarks	. 119
C	RediT authorship contribution statement	120
А	cknowledgments	. 120
R	eferences	. 120

#### 1. Introduction

Biological membranes are composed mostly of phospholipids, sphingolipids, sterols and proteins, with selective permeability to the environment. Their composition results in a bilayer structure where the two leaflets are in contact via the apolar acyl chains of their constituent lipids, while the polar head groups face the hydrophilic environment. The lipid composition is adapted to specific membrane functions; for example, the high concentration of sterols and saturated lipids in the plasma membrane supports its role as a barrier. Another fundamental aspect of biological membranes is the different lipid composition of their two leaflets, known as transbilayer lipid asymmetry [1,2]. For instance, in the plasma membrane (PM) of resting eukaryotic cells, phosphatidylserine (PS), phosphatidylinositol (PI), and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) are almost exclusively found in the cytosolic leaflet [3,4]. However, (patho)physiological events such as activation of the caspase proteolytic cascade or an increase in the cytosolic calcium concentration can disrupt this asymmetry and lead to PS exposure in the exoplasmic leaflet, a known signal for blood clotting and apoptosis [5].

Due to the hydrophobicity of the membrane core, transfer of polar lipid head groups between leaflets (known as flip-flop) is energetically unfavorable and therefore very slow [6,7]. Membrane asymmetry is a non-equilibrium state and as such, it has to be maintained by active transporters. For that purpose, eukaryotic organisms express ATP-dependent transporters, including flippases, which catalyze unidirectional lipid transport towards the cytosolic leaflet, and floppases, which move lipids towards the exoplasmic leaflet. Conversely, membrane asymmetry may be disrupted (for example during apoptosis) by energy-independent transporters called scramblases, which move lipids down their electrochemical potential [8]. Most flippases belong to the P4-ATPase subfamily of P-type ATPases, whereas floppases belong to the ATP-Binding-Cassette (ABC) family of transporters. In vitro reconstitution assays have shown that flippases and floppases move specific lipids at a rate of 10–100 lipids per second against their concentration gradient. In contrast, energy-independent scramblases facilitate the bi-directional movement of lipids at a rate of ~10,000 lipids per second [9,10]. Such a high transport rate enables fast apoptotic response, mentioned above, and also supports membrane expansion at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), where phospholipids need to cross the membrane rapidly while being synthesized on the cytosolic leaflet of the ER membrane [11].

The first protein suggested to act as a PL scramblase is known as PLSCR. PLSCR is a single-pass transmembrane protein with the transmembrane span near the C-terminus. Upon reconstitution in proteoliposomes,  $Ca^{2+}$ -induced PL scrambling was observed [12]. However, the disruption of PLSCR in different organisms has little effect on PS exposure making it highly unlikely that PLSCR functions as a scramblase [13,14].

Scramblases have long been elusive, and only recently have the molecular identities of some of them been revealed. Menon and coworkers demonstrated lipid scrambling activity of the G proteincoupled receptor (GPCR) opsin after its purification and reconstitution in proteoliposomes [15]. At the same time, Suzuki and colleagues identified two candidate scramblases, Xkr8 and TMEM16F, from cell lines that strongly exposed PS on their surface [16,17]. Since then, several TMEM16 protein members have been characterized both functionally and structurally, revealing exquisite details of the lipid transport mechanism [18]. New players are also entering the game, as unrelated proteins from diverse families such as TMEM41B/VMP1, lactose permease, VDAC1/2 and protein insertases have been proposed to scramble lipids [19–22]. The diversity of protein folds involved in lipid scrambling suggests a diversity of scrambling mechanisms.

In this review, we discuss the different mechanisms at play within the established phospholipid scramblase families, with emphasis on TMEM16 and XKR proteins, and we shed light on emerging candidates for lipid scrambling activity. We highlight how molecular dynamics (MD) simulations combined with *in vitro* transport assays and high-resolution structural data have greatly improved our understanding of the lipid scrambling mechanisms.

#### 2. The TMEM16 family of lipid scramblases

Initial characterization of the TMEM16 protein family revealed that TMEM16A is a  $Ca^{2+}$ -activated chloride channel [23–25]. TMEM16 proteins were originally termed 'anoctamins', because of their anion-specific activity and an erroneous prediction of eight transmembrane spans, now revised to ten by structural studies (see below). There are ten TMEM16 family members, termed TMEM16A-K (excluding I). However, only TMEM16A and TMEM16B have been shown to be Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated chloride channels, and most members of the family function as dual phospholipid scramblases and poorly selective cation channels, catalyzing bidirectional lipid flip-flop in an energy-independent manner (Fig. 1). TMEM16 scramblases do not distinguish specific head groups, as lipids as diverse as PS, PE, (phosphatidylcholine) PC, phosphatidylglycerol (PG) or the cationic lipid DOTAP (dioleoyl trimethylammonium propane) may be transported at rates exceeding 2.10<sup>4</sup> lipids s<sup>-1</sup> [9,26–29]. Noteworthy. TMEM16 scramblases also possess the ability to conduct ions, albeit with a low specificity. All TMEM16 proteins characterized so far are activated by  $Ca^{2+}$  [18].

The first high-resolution X-ray structure of a TMEM16 protein was that of a fungal scramblase from the plant pathogen *Nectria haematococca* (nhTMEM16) [27]. It confirmed the previously proposed homodimeric structure of TMEM16 proteins [33]. The protein displayed a novel fold with ten membrane-spanning segments (Fig. 2A). Two Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions were bound to a conserved site contributed by amino acids located in TM6, 7 and 8 of each protomer [27] (Fig. 2A and B). Two other regions of interest were the dimer interface between the two subunits and the subunit cavities, which face the lipid bilayer at both sides of the dimer in the shape of spiral staircases. The properties of the subunit cavity, formed by TM3 to 7, supported a so-called 'credit card' scrambling mechanism [34], with the cavity shielding the polar head groups of phospholipids, thereby lowering the energy barrier for lipid movement across



#### Fig. 1. Principle of proteoliposome-based lipid transport assays.

For monitoring scrambling activity, the most common approach is to use fluorescent probes bound to lipids in the liposomal membrane. The most widely used fluorophore used in these assays is nitrobenzoxadiazole (NBD), which can be placed either at the polar head group or at the fatty acid chain of the lipid. Usually, NBD-lipids are used in trace amounts to avoid light-induced artifacts (usually 0.3 mol% to 1 mol%). Bovine serum albumin (BSA) back-extraction and dithionite bleaching are the most commonly used assays for testing scrambling activity [9,30,31]. (A) Fluorescence quenching by fatty acid-free BSA takes place after lipid extraction from the external membrane leaflet. The lipid probe inside BSA's globular structure experiences a different environment that decreases its quantum yield by ~50 %. Therefore, following complete probe extraction from the membrane, the maximum fluorescence quenching obtained is 50 % of the initial fluorescence intensity. Due to the activity of a scramblase constantly shuttling lipids bidirectionally, 50 % fluorescence quenching is the theoretical quenching expected upon reconstitution of a scramblase, assuming that every liposome harbors at least one protein molecule. Mock liposomes are expected to have a maximum quenching of 25 %, resulting in 75 % final fluorescence [19,21]. (B) In the dithionite assay, photobleaching is due to reduction of the NBD fluorophore into an aminobenzoxadiazole (ABD) group by dithionite. Like in the BSA back-extraction assay, this assay relies on dithionite bleaching the fluorescence of the probes located in the outer leaflet of the vesicles, but not in the inner leaflet, this providing a read-out on transblayer lipid distribution. Liposomes should have only the exterior leaflet bleaching by dithonite [32].



#### Fig. 2. Architecture and lipid transport pathway in TMEM16 scramblases.

(A) nhTMEM16 structure in the open conformation (PDB 6QM9), displayed as ribbon. Left: side view. Each protomer of the homodimer is represented in a different color. Middle:  $90^{\circ}$  rotation of the structure displayed on the left, in order to show the subunit cavity. Only one of the two protomers is shown for clarity. Right: same as middle structure but shown as surface. The two Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions are shown as green spheres. (B) Close-up view of the calcium binding site formed by TM helices 6, 7 and 8 (PDB 6QM9). The amino acids involved in Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding have been numbered. (C) nhTMEM16 structure in the closed conformation (PDB 6QM4), displayed as surface, highlighting the cavity-forming helices (TM3-7 in blue) and the position of TM4 and TM6 in the absence of calcium. (D) nHTMEM16 structure in the open conformation (PDB 6QM9), displayed as surface, highlighting the opening of the subunit cavity and the lipid transport pathway. The position of TM4 and TM6 in the presence of calcium is indicated on the side. (E) Close-up view at the open subunit cavity in nhTMEM16 (PDB 6QM9). Amino acids involved in lipid transport are displayed as orange sticks. Residues that form contacts with lipid polar head groups and potentially gating at the exoplasmic leaflet are E313, E318 and R432. Other interacting residues are L302 and T340 (in TM3 and TM4, respectively) at mid-point of the membrane, Q436 and Y439 at a constriction point of the groove, and E352 and K353 in TM4, potentially gating at the cytosolic leaflet. The approximate position of the membrane is shown as a grey shaded area.

leaflets (Fig. 2A). This mechanism was also proposed by Yu et al., who showed that a subdomain of TMEM16F, comprising TM4 and TM5, conferred lipid scrambling activity to TMEM16A [35]. However, the transport mechanism remained enigmatic as no lipids could be observed in contact with the subunit cavities.

#### 2.1. Lipid permeation through the hydrophilic subunit cavity

The determination of TMEM16 protein structures in multiple conformations, together with molecular dynamics simulations, has illuminated our understanding of the lipid transport mechanism. The fungal nhTMEM16 reconstituted in nanodiscs was captured in three different conformations sampling different degrees of opening of the subunit cavity [36]. In the absence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, TM4 shielded the subunit cavity from the hydrophobic membrane core (Fig. 2C). In the transition from the closed to the open state, triggered by Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding, the subunit cavity gradually becomes accessible to the membrane (Fig. 2D). In the open state, TM4 is held away from TM6 along its entire length, providing a pathway ~8–11 Å wide, large enough for lipid head groups of the major classes of lipids to cross the membrane, while in the closed and intermediate states, the extracellular sides of TM4 and TM6 interact with each other, closing the pathway [36] (compare Fig. 2C and D).

MD simulations also provided support for the role of the subunit cavity in shielding the lipid head groups from the membrane core [37]. All-atom MD simulations revealed two charged residues at the nhTMEM16 extracellular entry of the subunit cavity. E313 in TM3 and R432 in TM6, responsible for stabilizing and isolating PC lipids from the surrounding membrane lipid head groups, potentially acting as gating residues. At the cytoplasmic extremity of the groove, two other charged residues, E352 and K353 in TM4, played a similar role, interacting with nearby lipid head groups (Fig. 2E). Importantly, MD simulations revealed 20-40 ns long flipping events, both from the extracellular to the cytosolic leaflet and vice versa [37]. Other atomistic MD simulations of nhTMEM16 also suggested a prominent role of the subunit cavity for lipid scrambling, notably E313, E318 and R432 that form contacts with lipid polar head groups but also residues localized at mid-point of the membrane (e.g. L302 and T340 respectively in TM3 and TM4) as well as residues intermediate to these two positions, at a constriction point of the groove (Q436 and Y439 in TM6) (Fig. 2E) [26,38]. Further mutational analysis of TMEM16 proteins, combined with cell-based or proteoliposome-based lipid transport assays, pinpointed the pivotal role of subunit cavity residues in the transport process. Tryptophan scanning mutagenesis in TM3, TM4, TM5, and TM6 confirmed that E313 and R432 in nhTMEM16 are involved in extracellular lipid selection and act as gating residues, and that mutation of Y439 strongly impairs lipid permeation (Fig. 2E) [26]. As further evidence of the essential nature of the subunit cavity in lipid scrambling, mutating several bulky residues lining the conduction pore in TMEM16F to alanine proved to be strongly activating [39]. Other bulky residues of the subunit cavity, e.g. F518 in TM4 of the mouse TMEM16F (mTMEM16F), have been proposed to form an inner activation gate, blocking the access to the hydrophilic groove in the absence of  $Ca^{2+}$ , while  $Ca^{2+}$ -induced movements distanced TM4 from TM6, thus opening the hydrophilic groove [40]. Overall, replacing the residues that form the gate with smaller, more polar or charged groups, removed the steric hindrance and destabilized the gate, allowing constitutive scrambling of phospholipids, i.e. in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent manner [40,41]. Interestingly, replacing L543 in TMEM16A, equivalent to F518 in TMEM16F, with a lysine converted the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated chloride channel into a lipid scramblase [40].

#### 2.2. TMEM16-induced membrane deformations and out-of-thegroove transport

Bethel and Grabe used continuum-atomistic modeling to study the effects of nhTMEM16 on membrane deformations [37]. They found that nhTMEM16 induces a distortion of the membrane. with a more pronounced bending at the subunit cavity. Due to this distortion, the path from one leaflet to the other would decrease from 28.5 Å for a flat POPC membrane to 18.3 Å at the subunit cavity, thereby lowering the energetic cost for lipid movement through the membrane core. This ability of nhTMEM16 to modify the curvature and thickness of the surrounding lipid environment was also shown by experimental work, using nhTMEM16 either embedded in detergent micelles or in nanodiscs, and was also suggested by studies of other TMEM16 proteins including mTMEM16F [36,42-44]. Recent cryo-EM structures of nanodiscreconstituted afTMEM16 from Aspergillus fumigatus revealed membrane thinning by ~50 % near the hydrophilic cavity [43], suggesting that membrane thinning acts in concert with opening of the cavity to facilitate lipid movement. Consistent with this hypothesis, increasing the thickness of proteoliposomes by using C22:1 instead of C18:1 acyl chains strongly reduced the scrambling activity of afTMEM16 in a proteoliposome-based lipid transport assay even in the presence of  $Ca^{2+}$  [42]. Since the cryo-EM structure of afTMEM16 in C22:1 nanodiscs in the presence of  $Ca^{2+}$  indicates that the groove is open, this shows that an open groove is not sufficient for efficient scrambling. Conversely, Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent scrambling did not require groove opening as scrambling was possible with a closed groove (only particle classes with a closed groove could be detected by cryo-EM). This argues that lipid scrambling in the absence of  $Ca^{2+}$  does not occur while the groove is transiently open but rather in an 'out-of-the-groove' manner [9]. An alternative out-of-the-groove pathway may help explain the origin of the basal, Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent scrambling activity of all TMEM16 proteins characterized so far, as well as the unexpected ability of afTMEM16 to facilitate bidirectional movement of phospholipids with polyethylene glycol (PEG) head groups, i.e. much larger than the width of the subunit cavity [9]. However, it remains to be established whether Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent, out-of-the-groove transport is physiologically relevant. The aforementioned exquisite sensitivity of afTMEM16 activity to the lipid composition of proteoliposomes makes it difficult to predict the level of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent activity in cell membranes. Furthermore, such a Ca<sup>2+</sup>independent transport is difficult to reconcile with the strong phospholipid asymmetry generally observed in the PM at resting state.

#### 3. The XKR family of lipid scramblases

While TMEM16F and several other TMEM16 family members are responsible for exposing PS in activated platelets, a scaffold for blood clotting enzymes, XKR family members including XKR4, 8 and 9 are associated with PS exposure in apoptotic cells, which serves as an eat-me signal for macrophages [45]. XKR8 interacts with Basigin (BSG), a type I membrane protein required for correct targeting of the complex to the PM [46]. While a wealth of structural information already exists for TMEM16 proteins, recent breakthroughs in the scramblase field are the elucidation of threedimensional structures of an XKR8-BSG complex [47] and XKR9 [48]. Both XKR8 and XKR9 are stimulated by caspases via cleavage of a short C-terminal fragment of the protein, and XKR8 may be independently activated by phosphorylation on its C-terminus [49]. Another member of this family, XKR1, which is not activated by caspases, has recently been demonstrated to promote lipid scrambling in an *in vitro* reconstitution assay [50].

#### 3.1. Architecture

The XKR8/BSG complex and XKR9 have been purified and the detergent-solubilized samples subjected to structural analysis by both X-ray crystallography and/or single particle cryo-EM. As expected, given the high sequence similarity between XKR8 and XKR9 (53 % similarity), the two proteins exhibit very similar structures. They display a novel fold, with a cuboid-like membrane domain made of 8 TM helices ( $\alpha$ 1-2,  $\alpha$ 4-7, and  $\alpha$ 9-10), 2 helices penetrating the membrane halfway ( $\alpha$ 3 and  $\alpha$ 8) and one cytoplasmic interfacial helix ( $\alpha$ 11) [47]. The C-terminal  $\alpha$ 11 helix, which contains the caspase cleavage site, sits in a groove formed by the cytoplasmic ends of TM2, 4, 5 and 6, thereby maintaining the protein in an inactive state [48,51]. Interaction between XKR8 and BSG is mediated by  $\alpha$ 9 from XKR8 and the TM span of BSG (Fig. 3A).

## 3.2. What do the structures tell us about the lipid transport pathway?

A rather unusual feature of XKR8 and XKR9 is the presence of a number of charged residues within their transmembrane domains, specifically TM3. For XKR8, the impact of mutating several of these residues was examined using a cell-based assay, revealing their prominent role in PS, PE and sphingomyelin (SM) scrambling at the PM [47]. These six residues are aligned in such a way that they line a possible path for phospholipid scrambling (Fig. 3B). The suggested involvement of acidic residues in scrambling activity implies that repulsive forces between these residues and the negatively charged phospholipid head groups or other acidic residues may widen the passage, facilitating phospholipid transit.

The structure of XKR8 also revealed the presence of a hydrophobic cleft contributed by residues located in  $\alpha 2$ ,  $\alpha 4$ ,  $\alpha 6$ ,  $\alpha 7$ , where a density attributed to PC could be observed [47] (Fig. 3C). A lipid

bound at the same location was modelled in the density map of XKR9 as well, although with a different orientation of the head group [48]. Although the mutation of some of the residues of the hydrophobic cleft seemed to compromise the stability of the complex, some other mutations (e.g. W309A and R42A, see Fig. 3C) dramatically impaired PS exposure without seemingly altering the expression level and localization of the complex, raising the question as to whether the PC molecule plays a structural, stabilizing effect, or rather a role in the scrambling mechanism [47]. Among those residues interacting with the PC head group, mutating W45 to alanine had the striking effect of enhancing the scrambling of all lipids tested (PS, PE and SM). Interestingly, the W45A mutation makes XKR8 constitutively active, bypassing the requirement for phosphorylation of XKR8 C-terminal tail, indicating that this residue plays a critical role in the regulation of lipid scrambling [47].

In contrast to TMEM16 proteins, examination of the structure of XKR proteins does not reveal any obvious lipid transport pathway. For instance, whether the PC molecule identified in the structure represents a lipid on its way to the other side of the membrane or whether it is merely a stabilizing lipid is not clear. A further divergence between XKR and TMEM16 proteins stems from the fact that no membrane distortion was observed in the vicinity of the protein, either in detergent micelles or in nanodiscs [47,48,51], precluding an 'out-of-the-groove' transport mechanism. Also, the strong conservation within all XKR family members of some of the hydrophilic/charged residues in TM3 does not entirely support the idea that these residues play a specific role in phospholipid scrambling, which is only found in some family members. Along those lines, the structures of the full-length and caspase-cleaved XKR9 are essentially identical (RMSD 0.72 Å), suggesting that caspase cleavage is not sufficient to trigger conformational changes and that additional components are required for activation. In the case of XKR8, such component could be BSG but that does not seem



#### Fig. 3. Structure and potential lipid transport pathways in XKR8.

Ribbon structure of the XKR8-Basigin (BSG) complex (PDB 8XEJ). (A) Overall structure of XKR8-BSG highlighting the interaction of Basigin with TM9 of XKR8, and the  $\alpha$ 11 helix containing the caspase cleavage site at the C-terminus. The structure is displayed from the side (left) and from the cytosolic leaflet (right). BSG is in green while the  $\alpha$ 11 helix is in red. (B) Close-up view of the charged pathway in the transmembrane domain of XKR8. Residues D26, D30, K134, E137, E141 and R183 constituting the charged pathway and with a prominent role in lipid scrambling are displayed as orange sticks. Reentrant helix  $\alpha$ 3 is omitted for clarity. (C) Ribbon structure highlighting the hydrophobic cleft where a PC molecule binds. Hydrophobic residues forming the cavity are indicated in black. PC, in blue, is displayed as sticks and transparent surface. Residues W309, R42, and W45, which interact with the PC head group and are important for lipid transport are shown as pink (W309 and R42) or yellow (W45) sticks.

to apply to XKR9 as no interaction with BSG could be detected [48]. Noteworthy, XKR4 has recently been shown to require both cleavage of its C-terminus by caspases and binding of a caspase-derived fragment of the nuclear protein XRCC4 for its full activa-tion [52]. It should also be stressed that neither XKR8 nor XKR9 exhibited phospholipid scrambling activity after purification and reconstitution in proteoliposomes, further substantiating a possible requirement for an as yet unidentified component for full activation, and raising the question as to whether the available structures for XKR proteins describe a state competent for lipid transport.

### 4. G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) as moonlighting phospholipid scramblases

#### 4.1. Phospholipid scrambling by opsin

Rod photoreceptor cells are highly specialized ciliated cells with a specific and unique membrane lipid composition. The cilium consists of rod outer segments composed of disc membranes surrounded by a PM. The disc membranes contain long-/very longchain polyunsaturated fatty acids and higher levels of PE than the PM [53,54]. In addition, the disc membranes are extremely densely packed with rhodopsin, the major protein component that converts visible light into a signaling cascade [53]. The ability of lipids to rapidly diffuse from one leaflet of photoreceptor disc membranes to the other has been noticed by Wu and Hubbel [55] and Hessel et al. [56], suggesting disc membranes are equipped with proteins facilitating the transbilayer movement of lipids. Given its abundance in photoreceptor disc membranes, opsin, a class A GPCR. emerged as a candidate for such activity. Whether purified from disc membranes or after expression in HEK293 cells and reconstitution in proteoliposomes, opsin exhibited ATP-independent phospholipid scramblase activity with poor head group selectivity: NBD-PC, -PS, -PE, -SM, as well as a bulky glycosylphosphatidylinositol (M4-H8) and PEG-conjugated lipids, could all be transported by opsin, at scrambling rates of  $\sim 10^4$ - $10^5$  lipids  $s^{-1}$ , surprisingly high considering that lipid scrambling is not the primary function of GPCRs [9,15,57]. Whether the inactive apoprotein opsin or different active/inactive versions of retinal-bound rhodopsin were used in in vitro scramblase assays, phospholipids could be transported in all cases, and at similar rates [57]. Therefore, lipid scrambling does not seem to depend on the protein's conformational state, although both opsin activation and lipid scrambling (see below) involve rather large motions of the intracellular end of TM6 [58-60]. This suggests that in contrast to TMEM16 proteins, opsin is a constitutively active scramblase. Furthermore, opsin reconstituted as oligomers in proteoliposomes and the use of opsin variants that lack the ability to self-associate revealed that both monomeric and oligomeric opsin are competent for transport of lipids in vitro [61,62].

#### 4.2. Contribution of MD simulations

There are currently no high-resolution structures of opsin with a lipid engaged in the translocation pathway, possibly due to the transient nature of phospholipid interaction with opsin, which acts more like a channel than a transporter. Iterative large-scale ensemble atomistic MD simulations enabled cumulative simulation times of ~50  $\mu$ s, compatible with the detection of rare flipping events [63]. Analysis of MD trajectories suggests the presence of a pathway located between TM6 and TM7. The opening of this pathway is dynamic and would provide sufficient space for the lipid head group to slide from one side of the membrane to the other. While these *in silico* approaches provide valuable information on the transport mechanism, MD simulations need to be

experimentally validated to unambiguously identify the lipid transport pathway. Notably, the ability to scramble phospholipids is not restricted to opsin, as other class A GPCRs, namely the  $\beta_1$ -and  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptors, as well as the A2A receptor, have also been shown to transport lipids across the two leaflets of proteoliposomes [15,57]. Whether the ability to transport lipids is common to all class A GCPRs or can be extended to other GPCR classes remains to be determined.

#### 4.3. Modulation of GPCR lipid scrambling by cholesterol

A constitutive activity of opsin can be tentatively reconciled with the fact that it is required to counteract unidirectional lipid transport by ABCA4 and ATP8A2 towards the cytosolic leaflet of the highly specialized photoreceptor disc membranes, and thus promote membrane stability [64]. However, the proposed constitutive phospholipid scrambling activity of other class A GPCRs is puzzling. Most GPCRs reside at the PM, where a strong transbilayer asymmetry of PS has to be maintained, and the observation that GPCRs act as scramblases raises the question of the physiological relevance of such activity.

To help resolve this conundrum, the Menon and Khelashvili groups performed MD simulations of opsin in the presence and absence of cholesterol, which suggest that cholesterol binds at the interface between TM6 and TM7, thereby stabilizing a closed conformation of the groove and preventing lipid scrambling [65]. In this study, it was further revealed that the conformational space explored by opsin is restricted in the presence of cholesterol, and that the unexplored regions correspond to structures with an open translocation pathway.

Another recent study from the Menon group provides some experimental support for the effect of cholesterol on GPCRmediated phospholipid scrambling [66]. Upon loading of opsinor  $\beta$ 1-adrenergic receptor-containing proteoliposomes with cholesterol, a significant reduction of scrambling-competent proteoliposomes was observed. Interestingly, the observed inhibition by cholesterol appeared to happen beyond a given threshold (corresponding to about 25 mol% for opsin), in a general agreement with the concentration of cholesterol found in the PM (~40 mol%) and in the ER (~5 mol%). This observation would provide a basis for silencing of GPCR scramblase activity at the PM (and therefore maintenance of phospholipid asymmetry), whereas the low cholesterol concentration in the ER would not prevent GPCRs to scramble lipids to support membrane expansion or, in the specific case of photoreceptor disc membranes, to counteract the flippase activity of ABCA4 and ATP8A2. It also highlights the importance of the lipid composition when studying scramblase activity in proteoliposome-based assays.

### 5. New scramblases identified in non-vesicular lipid transport pathways

In recent years, a number of new players have emerged with the unexpected ability to promote lipid flip-flop between bilayer leaflets. These include scramblases belonging to two evolutionary conserved families: ATG9 [19,67–71] and TMEM41B/VMP1 [19,72–74]. ATG9 is present in most eukaryotic species [75]. TMEM41B and VMP1 are eukaryotic integral ER membrane proteins that, individually or as a complex, function as lipid scramblases [19]. They both share a conserved domain belonging to the DedA superfamily, which is also present in archaea and in bacteria [76] and contains the only candidates for lipid scramblases in pro-karyotes [77]. For example, a recent study in *Bacillus subtilis* used a fluorescent analog of duramycin as a probe to monitor surface-exposed PE, showing that the DedA protein PetA alters the

#### transbilayer distribution of PE [78].

Interestingly, scramblases from both of these families are involved in the process of autophagy, which allows the degradation and recycling of molecular aggregates, organelles or cellular pathogens [79]. This process requires de novo formation of a bilayer membrane organelle to form the autophagosome. The new membrane can be derived from the ER or contributed by the Golgiderived ATG9 vesicles. In addition, recent evidence from several different groups shows the requirement for lipid transfer by lipid transfer proteins (LTPs) between the cytosolic leaflet of the donor membrane and the newly formed organelle, and partnership between LTPs and lipid scramblases to equilibrate phospholipid distribution between both membrane bilayers [19,80,81]. One mechanism has been illustrated between the ER and the autophagosome where phospholipids are scrambled by the ER scramblases TMEM41B/VMP1, then transferred by the ATG2 LTP to the autophagosome, and finally equilibrated by the autophagosome scramblase ATG9 [19,69,70,81]. However, the ATG9-ATG2 complex appears to not be restricted to autophagy. A recent genetic study demonstrated that ATG9 knock-out cells have impaired lipid distribution in lipid droplets (LD) and in mitochondria. Endogenous ATG9 can colocalize with the ER, the LD and the mitochondria, where it may regulate lipid homeostasis [82]. Whether these are direct or indirect effects remains to be further explored.

#### 5.1. Structure and mechanism of ATG9/Atg9 scramblases

ATG9 is a eukaryotic protein with variable and disordered Nand C-terminal extremities, and a highly conserved central region composed of six transmembrane helices (TM), two of which are reentrant helices, anchored only into the cytoplasmic leaflet, and around ten cytoplasmic helices (Fig. 4A) [69,70]. ATG9 forms a trimer within the bilayer membrane resulting in a very large central pore (~60 Å long) at the interface between the three protomers, in addition to three (40 Å long) lateral cavities, one per protomer, capable of accommodating amphipathic molecules (Fig. 4A) [69,70]. Each protomeric lateral cavity connects the trimer laterally to the central pore and residues responsible for this trimeric architecture are conserved among the ATG9 homologues. Furthermore, the central pore, connecting the cytosol and the lumen, is predominantly hydrophilic and exhibits an overall positive charge, which is consistent with a general model whereby scramblases possess a hydrophilic pathway at the surface of their TM regions [83]. Additionally, the structure of human ATG9A revealed two distinct conformations: open when obtained in detergent micelles and closed when obtained in nanodiscs (Fig. 4B and C). This distinction is based on hinge movements of the TM3-TM4 hairpin, which push TM3-TM4 away from TM1, resulting in an open central pore (Fig. 4B and C) [69]. Atomistic MD simulations led the authors to propose the following scrambling process: multiple lipids enter simultaneously into the lateral cavity, where the hydrophilic heads can diffuse while the hydrophobic tails stay inlayed in the membrane. Subsequently, they can cross the leaflet in a non-directional manner through a funnel-shaped solvent pool formed by the central pore connected to the three lateral pores (Fig. 4D) [69].

Dithionite scrambling assay indicates that Atg9 from *Schizo-saccharomyces pombe* transports PE, PS, and PC from the inner to the outer leaflet of proteoliposomes, while quick-freezing and freeze-fracture replica labeling (QF-FRL) shows that Atg9 can also transport phosphoinositide-3-phosphate from outer to the inner autophagosome leaflet [70]. Phospholipid scrambling was also confirmed by other groups for the human homolog ATG9A [19,69] and its paralog ATG9B [67], the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Atg9 [71] and Atg9 from the plant fungus *Magnaporthe oryzae* [68]. Of note,





(A) Structures obtained from trimeric ATG9A reconstituted in nanodiscs, in a closed conformation (PDB:7JLP), shown as ribbon, and either viewed from the side (left) or from the cytosol (right). Membranes boundaries are indicated by solid lines. Re-entrant helices are shown in salmon color, while the pore-forming TM4 helix is displayed in yellow. In the side view, the lateral cavity is highlighted while in the view from the cytosol, the central pore is highlighted. (B) Overlay of open (detergent) and closed (nanodisc) ATG9A structures shown in ribbon representation, emphasizing movements of TM helices 3 and 4 associated with pore opening. For clarity, a single ATG9A protomer is shown. (C) View from the cytosolic side of the ATG9A trimer, highlighting opening of the central pore associated with TM3-TM4 movement. (D) Cutaway view of a hypothetical lipid transport pathway in ATG9A. Only two of the three protomers are shown for clarity. The white arrow depicts the connection between the lateral cavity and the central pore, whereas the black arrow shows the putative lipid flux within the central pore. (A, C and D) Each protomer of the ATP9A trimer is represented in a different color.

permeability assays as well as BSA back-extraction lipid scramblase assay ensured that dithionite quenching is not a consequence of dithionite permeation into proteoliposomes, as could be anticipated based on the large central pore observed in ATG9 [69,70].

Combinations of mutations of polar residues lining the central pore, changed to hydrophobic residues, have been shown to impair lipid transport, suggesting that scramblase activity of ATG9 relies on the hydrophilic pore properties [70]. Mutations in ATG9 that lead to autophagy deficiency often, but not always, correlate with impaired scramblase activity. In *S. cerevisiae*, such mutations in the Atg9 central pore impair both scrambling and the autophagy pathway [70], as do mutations in the equivalent human ATG9A [69]. Conversely, mutating the highly conserved residue F627, located in TM3 and not lining the central pore, leads to autophagy defect *in vivo* but does not block scramblase activity *in vitro* [84].

### 5.2. Interplay between scramblases and inter-organelle lipid transport

Scramblases also associate with other proteins involved in lipid homeostasis, such as LTPs. In a well-studied example, the ATG9A scramblase interacts with the channel-like cytosolic LTP ATG2A, which supplies lipids to the outer leaflet of an acceptor membrane organelle, thereby creating asymmetry with respect to the inner leaflet. To allow bilayer expansion, lipids are rapidly transported to the inner leaflet as they arrive in the outer leaflet [19]. The interaction with ATG9A is mediated by the C-terminal region of ATG2A, located close to the opening of its lipid transfer cavity. Although ATG2A can interact with ATG9A independently of membrane binding, the binding interface between ATG2A and ATG9A is required for ATG2A membrane binding and tethering, suggesting the necessity of this interaction for efficient autophagy. For ATG9A, the N-terminal part of the core domain and the disordered C-terminus are both interacting with ATG2A. However, the C-terminal domain appears to be less critical for the interaction and may play a regulatory role in the binding of ATG2A. Conversely, the N-terminal part of the core domain possesses a major ATG2A binding site, which is not required for scramblase activity [85]. Additionally, the residues responsible for efficient binding are also required for efficient autophagy. Finally, ATG2A can also interact with TMEM41B/VMP1 by its N-terminal region, linking the ER to the autophagosome through membrane contact sites [19].

Mainly studied during the autophagy process, ATG9A and ATG2A are not only involved in the interaction with TMEM41B/ VMP1 at the ER, but also in the transfer of fatty acids from LDs to mitochondria. ATG2A can bind to the mitochondrial translocase TOMM40, establishing contact sites between mitochondria and ATG9A vesicles, close to mitochondria-associated ER membranes [86]. Genetic approaches have shown that ATG9A or ATG2A knockout cells exhibit impaired FA transfer, leading to an increase in the number and size of LDs. This phenotype is attributed to nonautophagic lipid transport from LDs rather than lipophagy defects (LD degradation), since the LD number and size in cells lacking ATG7 (essential for lipophagy) remains unaltered. Correlative light and electron microscopy (CLEM) experiments have further supported the hypothesis of ATG9A-ATG2A involvement in the control of lipid homeostasis between LDs and mitochondria by demonstrating close proximity between ATG9A vesicles and the ER, lipid droplets, or mitochondria [82]. The tethering property of ATG2A could mediate the interaction between ATG9A and TMEM41B or TOMM40 at contact sites between organelles. Despite the possibility of passive diffusion of fatty acids between bilayers, it is increasingly established that fatty acids can cross inter-membrane space through a protein-mediated mechanism that allows regulated intracellular translocation and uptake [87].

Interestingly, some TMEM16 scramblases have also been implicated in membrane tethering, which is important for lipid transport and also for Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling [88]. TMEM16H and TMEM16K both reside in the ER and have been shown to interact with the PM and the endosomes, respectively [89,90]. The molecular mechanisms of TMEM16-mediated membrane tethering remain to be explored. Conversely, in yeast, the TMEM16 homolog Ist2 contains an elongated cytosolic tail that tethers the ER to the PM and also interacts with the LTPs Osh6 and Osh7 to promote PS transport to the PM [91–94]. However, a lipid scrambling activity for Ist2 has so far not been demonstrated [29]. Finally, a recent study has shown that the LTP Vps13 or VPS13A, belonging to the same family as ATG2, which tethers ER and mitochondria, interacts with Mcp1 (outer mitochondrial membrane scramblase) or XKR1 (see chapter 3), in yeast and human, respectively [50].

### 5.3. Insights into TMEM41B/VMP1 scramblase structure and function

As previously mentioned, TMEM41B/VMP1 belong to the DedA superfamily. To date, no DedA domain protein has been structurally assessed. However, the DedA domain is predicted to consist of two canonical TM helices and two reentrant loops (helix-loop-helix) facing each other in the membrane. *In silico* and biochemical analyses predict that TMEM41B possesses an extramembrane helix at the N-terminus of the DedA domain [95], similar to chloride channel proteins, and two additional TM helices located upstream and downstream of the DedA domain [76]. It has been proposed that the TM helices form a positively-charged hydrophilic cavity allowing interaction with negatively charged molecules [72]. Regarding VMP1, the DedA domain is connected to four TM helices, three in the N-terminus and one in the C-terminus [77].

Experimental validation of TMEM41B/VMP1 scramblase activity has been only recently achieved using a dithionite scrambling assay [19,72–74,77] and in cells using metabolic labelling of PC with a clickable alkyl-choline combined with permeabilization of cell membranes with different detergents [72]. They both can scramble phospholipids *in vitro* in a non-specific ATP- and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent manner [19,72,73]. In cells, deletion of TMEM41B or VMP1 also affected the distribution of cholesterol between different organelles, as assessed by the use of fluorescent probes, suggesting that they may regulate the physical properties of membranes [73].

Besides a role in autophagy, TMEM41B and VMP1 are involved in homeostasis of neutral lipids and lipoproteins [96,97]. It also has been suggested that they may indirectly contribute to protein transport through vesicle formation [98], since vesicle formation at the ER requires PL availability and therefore lipid scrambling [76].

#### 5.4. Lipid scrambling at the outer mitochondrial membrane

Other newly identified scramblases include the  $\beta$ -barrel membrane proteins VDAC1 and VDAC2, which facilitate transport of metabolites through the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM). Mitochondria rely in part on lipids supplied by the ER. For example, PS must be transported from the ER to the OMM before it is flipped towards the intermembrane space and decarboxylated to form PE. A rapid transverse movement of phospholipids, e.g. PC and PI, across the OMM was already observed years ago [99,100], but the identity of the OMM scramblase remained unknown. A recent report showed that human VDAC2 catalyzes energy-independent transport of PC and PI after reconstitution in proteoliposomes, with a scrambling rate of >10<sup>3</sup> lipids s<sup>-1</sup>. VDAC1 was also shown to transport NBD-PC, although less efficiently than VDAC2 [21]. This suggest that, as GPCRs, VDAC1 and VDAC2 moonlight as phospholipid scramblases. Owing to the fact that enforcing dimerization of VDAC1 with cross-linkers revealed its lipid scrambling activity, an oligomeric structure seems required for efficient scrambling by VDAC proteins. Whether the same applies to VDAC2 remains to be studied. Such implication of VDAC multimers in lipid scrambling would suggest that the pore of VDAC does not constitute a pathway for lipid transport, in agreement with MD simulations, which predict that lipid flip-flop occurs at the interface between each protomer of the dimeric VDAC1. This also correlates with a pronounced thinning of the membrane in the vicinity of the dimer interface [21]. Specifically, the presence of a negative charge on the side chain carboxylate group of E73, a residue that is facing the dimer interface in VDAC1, leads to a marked thinning of the membrane around this residue, and this was shown to be accompanied by frequent lipid flip-flop events at this site [101]. However, the E84V mutation in VDAC2 (equivalent to E73V in VDAC1) had no detectable deleterious effect on lipid transport, suggesting that membrane distortion is not essential to promote rapid lipid flip-flop [21]. Future experiments are needed to identify and experimentally validate the lipid transport pathway in VDAC. Also, the chemical cross-linking approach could suffer from the possible influence of these chemicals on the protein structure, which could in turn be manifested by local distortion/thinning of the membrane. The role of VDAC-mediated lipid transport in a cellular context remains to be studied.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The list of potential candidates for lipid scrambling activity is rapidly expanding. Besides the aforementioned new players in this field, very recent reports suggest that other unrelated protein families may be able to facilitate lipid scrambling in cell membranes. This is for example the case of the OSCA proteins from *A. thaliana* and their close TMEM63 homologues in higher eukaryotes, which had so far been described as ion channels that convert mechanical cues into electric signals [102]. OSCA/TMEM63 mechano-sensitive channels are close homologues of TMEM16 proteins, and the overall structure of OSCA1.2 from *A. thaliana* resembles that of TMEM16 proteins [103,104] (Fig. 5). Both form heterodimers, and ten transmembrane helices from OSCA1.2 (out of

11) follow closely the topology and organization of nhTMEM16 (Fig. 5). Reminiscent of the situation observed upon mutation of F518K in TMEM16F, which is proposed to form an inner activation gate (see above), introduction of single lysine mutation in the equivalent position in OSCA1.2 (L438K) resulted in PS exposure in cells overexpressing the OSCA1.2 mutant [105]. Strikingly, lipid scrambling has also been proposed to be a general feature of proteins called insertases, which catalyze the insertion of transmembrane proteins with  $\alpha$ -helical regions in membranes of the ER and of organelles that are disconnected from vesicular trafficking, such as mitochondria [22]. Combining biochemical reconstitution of candidate scramblases and in vitro lipid transport assays with coarse-grain (CG) MD simulations, Vanni and Reinisch groups suggested that several if not all members of different insertase families, including the ER GET complex, the recently identified mitochondrial insertase MTCH2 and the *E. coli* β-barrel membrane protein BamA (Fig. 5), support lipid scrambling in model membranes [22]. Using CG-MD simulations, it has been further proposed that the pathway taken by the translocated lipid is common to the pathway that promotes membrane protein insertion, i.e. through a hydrophilic transbilayer groove [22,106]. Finally, the wellcharacterized H<sup>+</sup>/lactose symporter LacY has also been shown to rapidly equilibrate NBD-PC, -PE, and -PI across the membrane of proteoliposomes, a process that apparently occurs in a manner independent of H<sup>+</sup>/lactose transport, thereby increasing the number of proteins with a moonlighting scramblase function [20].

This ever-growing number of proteins with *in vitro* scramblase activity poses the question of physiological significance. It should be stressed that for some putative scramblases described in this review, such as most of the XKR proteins, evidence that these proteins are able to transport lipids *in vitro* is still lacking. On the other hand, in *vitro* assays are especially problematic for constitutively active scramblases where transport cannot be triggered by a specific stimulus. In such cases, fluorescence bleaching above 50 % could be interpreted either as genuine scrambling activity or as an asymmetric distribution of NBD-lipids induced by the process of protein reconstitution into the liposomes. Iodide collisional quenching assay specifically addresses this issue [107]. The iodide ions exclusively interact with lipids in the outer leaflet of the



Fig. 5. The different folds associated with lipid scrambling.

Side view structures of several membrane protein families with a reported role as scramblases. The proteins displayed are as follows: nhTMEM16 (PDB 6QM9), rhodopsin (PDB 4J4Q), Xkr8–BSG complex (PDB 8XEJ), ATG9 (along with its view from the top) (PDB 7DOI), OSCA1.2 (PDB 6MGV), TMEM63B (PDB 8EHX), VDAC1 (PDB 5XDO), LacY (PDB 2CFQ), MTCH2 (AlphaFold model AF-Q9Y6C9), and BamA (PDB 6QGW). The approximate position of the membrane is shown as a grey shaded area.

liposome, but unlike in the dithionite or BSA back-extraction methods, they quench the fluorophores without oxidizing them or affecting their quantum yield, leaving the lipid probes free and intact. In protein-free liposomes, a 50 % decrease of fluorescence upon quenching of all outer leaflet probes with iodide ions is expected. For proteoliposomes, a similar 50 % fluorescence reduction is expected, as scramblases shuffle lipids back and forth constantly. leaving a 50/50 distribution of NBD probes at any time [107]. A fluorescence reduction exceeding 50 % would indicate that the NBD fluorophore exhibits a non-uniform distribution within the proteoliposomes. Consequently, a large fluorescence quenching observed using the dithionite assay does not necessarily imply lipid scrambling. Along the same lines, the extent of fluorescence quenching by dithionite (which is associated with the ratio of lipids in the outer leaflet of the proteoliposome over those in the inner leaflet) is dependent on the size of proteoliposomes.

We anticipate that such assays are fundamental to assess the involvement of a given protein in lipid scrambling. Other caveats may also arise from the available *in vitro* transport assays, owing to the sensitivity of TMEM16 and GPCR transport activity (and membrane proteins in general) to the lipid composition of proteoliposomes. In this context, further research is required to ascertain the physiological significance of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent lipid scrambling activity exhibited by TMEM16 proteins, since this activity is largely influenced by the bilayer thickness, and proteoliposomes may not faithfully reflect the cell membrane properties.

Many more membrane proteins are likely to be identified as putative lipid scramblases, as suggested most recently by the work on protein insertases [22]. The diversity in the tertiary and quaternary structures adopted by the scramblases identified so far suggests a possible diversity in scrambling mechanisms. Combining structural analyses by cryo-EM with the increasing computational power of MD simulations, as well as cell-based and *in vitro* biochemical assays, is likely to contribute to the elucidation of lipid transport mechanisms by scramblases.

#### **CRediT** authorship contribution statement

**Heitor Gobbi Sebinelli:** Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Validation, Investigation, Conceptualization. **Camille Syska:** Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Validation, Investigation. **Alenka Čopič:** Writing – review & editing, Validation, Supervision, Investigation, Funding acquisition. **Guillaume Lenoir:** Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Validation, Supervision, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Conceptualization.

#### Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Christine Jaxel, Cédric Montigny and Thibaud Dieudonné for insightful discussions and comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR-20-CE13-0030-02).

#### References

- A. Čopič, T. Dieudonné, G. Lenoir, Phosphatidylserine transport in cell life and death, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 83 (2023) 102192, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ceb.2023.102192.
- [2] G. Pabst, S. Keller, Exploring membrane asymmetry and its effects on membrane proteins, Trends Biochem. Sci. 49 (2024) 333–345, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2024.01.007.
- [3] J.H. Lorent, K.R. Levental, L. Ganesan, G. Rivera-Longsworth, E. Sezgin, M. Doktorova, E. Lyman, I. Levental, Plasma membranes are asymmetric in lipid unsaturation, packing and protein shape, Nat. Chem. Biol. 16 (2020) 644–652, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0529-6.
- [4] T. Kobayashi, A.K. Menon, Transbilayer lipid asymmetry, Curr. Biol. CB 28

(2018) R386-R391, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.007.

- [5] S. Nagata, J. Suzuki, K. Segawa, T. Fujii, Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the cell surface, Cell Death Differ. 23 (2016) 952–961, https://doi.org/10.1038/ cdd.2016.7.
- [6] J.C.M. Holthuis, T.P. Levine, Lipid traffic: floppy drives and a superhighway, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 6 (2005) 209–220, https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1591.
- [7] G. Lenoir, J.M. D'Ambrosio, T. Dieudonné, A. Čopič, Transport pathways that contribute to the cellular distribution of phosphatidylserine, Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9 (2021) 737907, https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.737907.
- [8] Y. Wang, T. Kinoshita, The role of lipid scramblases in regulating lipid distributions at cellular membranes, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 51 (2023) 1857–1869, https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20221455.
- [9] M. Malvezzi, K.K. Andra, K. Pandey, B.-C. Lee, M.E. Falzone, A. Brown, R. Iqbal, A.K. Menon, A. Accardi, Out-of-the-groove transport of lipids by TMEM16 and GPCR scramblases, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 115 (2018) E7033–E7042, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1806721115.
- [10] L. Theorin, K. Faxén, D.M. Sørensen, R. Migotti, G. Dittmar, J. Schiller, D.L. Daleke, M. Palmgren, R.L. López-Marqués, T. Günther Pomorski, The lipid head group is the key element for substrate recognition by the P4 ATPase ALA2: a phosphatidylserine flippase, Biochem. J. 476 (2019) 783–794, https://doi.org/10.1042/BCI20180891.
- [11] J.E. Vance, Phospholipid synthesis and transport in mammalian cells, Traffic Cph, Den 16 (2015) 1–18, https://doi.org/10.1111/tra.12230.
- [12] Q. Zhou, J. Zhao, J.G. Stout, R.A. Luhm, T. Wiedmer, P.J. Sims, Molecular cloning of human plasma membrane phospholipid scramblase. A protein mediating transbilayer movement of plasma membrane phospholipids, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 18240–18244, https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.272.29.18240.
- [13] E.M. Bevers, P.L. Williamson, Phospholipid scramblase: an update, FEBS Lett. 584 (2010) 2724–2730, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2010.03.020.
- [14] U. Acharya, M.B. Edwards, R.A. Jorquera, H. Silva, K. Nagashima, P. Labarca, J.K. Acharya, Drosophila melanogaster Scramblases modulate synaptic transmission, J. Cell Biol. 173 (2006) 69–82, https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.200506159.
- [15] I. Menon, T. Huber, S. Sanyal, S. Banerjee, P. Barré, S. Canis, J.D. Warren, J. Hwa, T.P. Sakmar, A.K. Menon, Opsin is a phospholipid flippase, Curr. Biol. CB 21 (2011) 149–153, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.12.031.
- [16] J. Suzuki, D.P. Denning, E. Imanishi, H.R. Horvitz, S. Nagata, Xk-related protein 8 and CED-8 promote phosphatidylserine exposure in apoptotic cells, Science 341 (2013) 403–406, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1236758.
- [17] J. Suzuki, M. Umeda, P.J. Sims, S. Nagata, Calcium-dependent phospholipid scrambling by TMEM16F, Nature 468 (2010) 834–838, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature09583.
- [18] V. Kalienkova, V. Clerico Mosina, C. Paulino, The groovy TMEM16 family: molecular mechanisms of lipid scrambling and ion conduction, J. Mol. Biol. (2021) 166941, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2021.166941.
- [19] A. Ghanbarpour, D.P. Valverde, T.J. Melia, K.M. Reinisch, A model for a partnership of lipid transfer proteins and scramblases in membrane expansion and organelle biogenesis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 118 (2021) e2101562118, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2101562118.
- [20] L. Wang, P. Bütikofer, Lactose permease scrambles phospholipids, Biology 12 (2023) 1367, https://doi.org/10.3390/biology12111367.
- [21] H. Jahn, L. Bartoš, G.I. Dearden, J.S. Dittman, J.C.M. Holthuis, R. Vácha, A.K. Menon, Phospholipids are imported into mitochondria by VDAC, a dimeric beta barrel scramblase, Nat. Commun. 14 (2023) 8115, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-43570-y.
- [22] D. Li, C. Rocha-Roa, M.A. Schilling, K.M. Reinisch, S. Vanni, Lipid scrambling is a general feature of protein insertases, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 121 (2024) e2319476121, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2319476121.
- [23] B.C. Schroeder, T. Cheng, Y.N. Jan, L.Y. Jan, Expression cloning of TMEM16A as a calcium-activated chloride channel subunit, Cell 134 (2008) 1019–1029, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.003.
- [24] Y.D. Yang, H. Cho, J.Y. Koo, M.H. Tak, Y. Cho, W.-S. Shim, S.P. Park, J. Lee, B. Lee, B.-M. Kim, R. Raouf, Y.K. Shin, U. Oh, TMEM16A confers receptoractivated calcium-dependent chloride conductance, Nature 455 (2008) 1210–1215, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07313.
- [25] A. Caputo, E. Caci, L. Ferrera, N. Pedemonte, C. Barsanti, E. Sondo, U. Pfeffer, R. Ravazzolo, O. Zegarra-Moran, LJ.V. Galietta, TMEM16A, a membrane protein associated with calcium-dependent chloride channel activity, Science 322 (2008) 590–594, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1163518.
- [26] B.-C. Lee, G. Khelashvili, M. Falzone, A.K. Menon, H. Weinstein, A. Accardi, Gating mechanism of the extracellular entry to the lipid pathway in a TMEM16 scramblase, Nat. Commun. 9 (2018) 3251, https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-018-05724-1.
- [27] J.D. Brunner, N.K. Lim, S. Schenck, A. Duerst, R. Dutzler, X-ray structure of a calcium-activated TMEM16 lipid scramblase, Nature 516 (2014) 207–212, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13984.
- [28] J. Suzuki, T. Fujii, T. Imao, K. Ishihara, H. Kuba, S. Nagata, Calcium-dependent phospholipid scramblase activity of TMEM16 protein family members, J. Biol. Chem. 288 (2013) 13305–13316, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.457937.
- [29] M. Malvezzi, M. Chalat, R. Janjusevic, A. Picollo, H. Terashima, A.K. Menon, A. Accardi, Ca2+-dependent phospholipid scrambling by a reconstituted TMEM16 ion channel, Nat. Commun. 4 (2013) 2367, https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms3367.
- [30] M. Marek, T. Günther-Pomorski, Assay of flippase activity in proteoliposomes

using fluorescent lipid derivatives, Methods Mol. Biol. Clifton NJ 1377 (2016) 181–191, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3179-8\_18.

- [31] J. Kubelt, A.K. Menon, P. Müller, A. Herrmann, Transbilayer movement of fluorescent phospholipid analogues in the cytoplasmic membrane of Escherichia coli, Biochemistry 41 (2002) 5605–5612, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/bi0118714.
- [32] J.C. McIntyre, R.G. Sleight, Fluorescence assay for phospholipid membrane asymmetry, Biochemistry 30 (1991) 11819–11827, https://doi.org/10.1021/ bi00115a012.
- [33] J. Tien, H.Y. Lee, D.L. Minor, Y.N. Jan, L.Y. Jan, Identification of a dimerization domain in the TMEM16A calcium-activated chloride channel (CaCC), Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110 (2013) 6352–6357, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1303672110.
- [34] T. Pomorski, A.K. Menon, Lipid flippases and their biological functions, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. CMLS 63 (2006) 2908–2921, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-006-6167-7.
- [35] K. Yu, J.M. Whitlock, K. Lee, E.A. Ortlund, Y.Y. Cui, H.C. Hartzell, Identification of a lipid scrambling domain in ANO6/TMEM16F, Elife 4 (2015) e06901, https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.06901.
- [36] V. Kalienkova, V. Clerico Mosina, L. Bryner, G.T. Oostergetel, R. Dutzler, C. Paulino, Stepwise activation mechanism of the scramblase nhTMEM16 revealed by cryo-EM, Elife 8 (2019), https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.44364.
- [37] N.P. Bethel, M. Grabe, Atomistic insight into lipid translocation by a TMEM16 scramblase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113 (2016) 14049–14054, https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607574113.
- [38] T. Jiang, K. Yu, H.C. Hartzell, E. Tajkhorshid, Lipids and ions traverse the membrane by the same physical pathway in the nhTMEM16 scramblase, Elife 6 (2017), https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.28671.
- [39] M. Arndt, C. Alvadia, M.S. Straub, V. Clerico Mosina, C. Paulino, R. Dutzler, Structural basis for the activation of the lipid scramblase TMEM16F, Nat. Commun. 13 (2022) 6692, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-34497-x.
- [40] T. Le, Z. Jia, S.C. Le, Y. Zhang, J. Chen, H. Yang, An inner activation gate controls TMEM16F phospholipid scrambling, Nat. Commun. 10 (2019) 1846, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09778-7.
- [41] T.W. Han, W. Ye, N.P. Bethel, M. Zubia, A. Kim, K.H. Li, A.L. Burlingame, M. Grabe, Y.N. Jan, L.Y. Jan, Chemically induced vesiculation as a platform for studying TMEM16F activity, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 116 (2019) 1309–1318, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1817498116.
- [42] M.E. Falzone, J. Rheinberger, B.-C. Lee, T. Peyear, L. Sasset, A.M. Raczkowski, E.T. Eng, A. Di Lorenzo, O.S. Andersen, C.M. Nimigean, A. Accardi, Structural basis of Ca2+-dependent activation and lipid transport by a TMEM16 scramblase, Elife 8 (2019), https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.43229.
- [43] M.E. Falzone, Z. Feng, O.E. Alvarenga, Y. Pan, B. Lee, X. Cheng, E. Fortea, S. Scheuring, A. Accardi, TMEM16 scramblases thin the membrane to enable lipid scrambling, Nat. Commun. 13 (2022) 2604, https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-30300-z.
- [44] S. Feng, S. Dang, T.W. Han, W. Ye, P. Jin, T. Cheng, J. Li, Y.N. Jan, L.Y. Jan, Y. Cheng, Cryo-EM studies of TMEM16F calcium-activated ion channel suggest features important for lipid scrambling, Cell Rep. 28 (2019) 567–579.e4, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.06.023.
- [45] J. Šuzuki, E. Imanishi, S. Nagata, Exposure of phosphatidylserine by Xkrelated protein family members during apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 289 (2014) 30257–30267, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.583419.
- [46] J. Suzuki, E. Imanishi, S. Nagata, Xkr8 phospholipid scrambling complex in apoptotic phosphatidylserine exposure, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113 (2016) 9509–9514, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1610403113.
- [47] T. Sakuragi, R. Kanai, A. Tsutsumi, H. Narita, E. Onishi, K. Nishino, T. Miyazaki, T. Baba, H. Kosako, A. Nakagawa, M. Kikkawa, C. Toyoshima, S. Nagata, The tertiary structure of the human Xkr8-Basigin complex that scrambles phospholipids at plasma membranes, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 28 (2021) 825–834, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41594-021-00665-8.
- [48] M.S. Straub, C. Alvadia, M. Sawicka, R. Dutzler, Cryo-EM structures of the caspase-activated protein XKR9 involved in apoptotic lipid scrambling, Elife 10 (2021) e69800, https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.69800.
- [49] T. Sakuragi, H. Kosako, S. Nagata, Phosphorylation-mediated activation of mouse Xkr8 scramblase for phosphatidylserine exposure, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 116 (2019) 2907–2912, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820499116.
- [50] J. Adlakha, Z. Hong, P. Li, K.M. Reinisch, Structural and biochemical insights into lipid transport by VPS13 proteins, J. Cell Biol. 221 (2022) e202202030, https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.202202030.
- [51] T. Sakuragi, R. Kanai, M. Otani, M. Kikkawa, C. Toyoshima, S. Nagata, The role of the C-terminal tail region as a plug to regulate XKR8 lipid scramblase, J. Biol. Chem. 300 (2024) 105755, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2024.105755.
- [52] M. Maruoka, P. Zhang, H. Mori, E. Imanishi, D.M. Packwood, H. Harada, H. Kosako, J. Suzuki, Caspase cleavage releases a nuclear protein fragment that stimulates phospholipid scrambling at the plasma membrane, Mol. Cell 81 (2021) 1397–1410.e9, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2021.02.025.
- [53] C.L. Sander, A.E. Sears, A.F.M. Pinto, E.H. Choi, S. Kahremany, F. Gao, D. Salom, H. Jin, E. Pardon, S. Suh, Z. Dong, J. Steyaert, A. Saghatelian, D. Skowronska-Krawczyk, P.D. Kiser, K. Palczewski, Nano-scale resolution of native retinal rod disk membranes reveals differences in lipid composition, J. Cell Biol. 220 (2021) e202101063, https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.202101063.
- [54] K. Boesze-Battaglia, A.D. Albert, Phospholipid distribution among bovine rod outer segment plasma membrane and disk membranes, Exp. Eye Res. 54 (1992) 821–823, https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4835(92)90040-y.

- [55] G. Wu, W.L. Hubbell, Phospholipid asymmetry and transmembrane diffusion in photoreceptor disc membranes, Biochemistry 32 (1993) 879–888, https://
- doi.org/10.1021/bi00054a020.
  [56] E. Hessel, A. Herrmann, P. Müller, P.P. Schnetkamp, K.P. Hofmann, The transbilayer distribution of phospholipids in disc membranes is a dynamic equilibrium evidence for rapid flip and flop movement, Eur. J. Biochem. 267 (2000) 1473–1483. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01147.x.
- [57] M.A. Goren, T. Morizumi, I. Menon, J.S. Joseph, J.S. Dittman, V. Cherezov, R.C. Stevens, O.P. Ernst, A.K. Menon, Constitutive phospholipid scramblase activity of a G protein-coupled receptor, Nat. Commun. 5 (2014) 5115, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6115.
- [58] J. Standfuss, P.C. Edwards, A. D'Antona, M. Fransen, G. Xie, D.D. Oprian, G.F.X. Schertler, The structural basis of agonist-induced activation in constitutively active rhodopsin, Nature 471 (2011) 656–660, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature09795.
- [59] G.G. Gregorio, M. Masureel, D. Hilger, D.S. Terry, M. Juette, H. Zhao, Z. Zhou, J.M. Perez-Aguilar, M. Hauge, S. Mathiasen, J.A. Javitch, H. Weinstein, B.K. Kobilka, S.C. Blanchard, Single-molecule analysis of ligand efficacy in β2AR-G-protein activation, Nature 547 (2017) 68–73, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature22354.
- [60] W.I. Weis, B.K. Kobilka, The molecular basis of G protein-coupled receptor activation, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 87 (2018) 897–919, https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-biochem-060614-033910.
- [61] B. Ploier, L.N. Caro, T. Morizumi, K. Pandey, J.N. Pearring, M.A. Goren, S.C. Finnemann, J. Graumann, V.Y. Arshavsky, J.S. Dittman, O.P. Ernst, A.K. Menon, Dimerization deficiency of enigmatic retinitis pigmentosalinked rhodopsin mutants, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016) 12832, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncomms12832.
- [62] K. Pandey, B. Ploier, M.A. Goren, J. Levitz, G. Khelashvili, A.K. Menon, An engineered opsin monomer scrambles phospholipids, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 16741, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16842-z.
- [63] G. Morra, A.M. Razavi, K. Pandey, H. Weinstein, A.K. Menon, G. Khelashvili, Mechanisms of lipid scrambling by the G protein-coupled receptor opsin, Struct. Lond. Engl. 26 (2018) 356–367.e3, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.str.2017.11.020, 1993.
- [64] O.P. Ernst, A.K. Menon, Phospholipid scrambling by rhodopsin, Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. Off. J. Eur. Photochem. Assoc. Eur. Soc. Photobiol. 14 (2015) 1922–1931, https://doi.org/10.1039/c5pp00195a.
- [65] G. Morra, A.M. Razavi, A.K. Menon, G. Khelashvili, Cholesterol occupies the lipid translocation pathway to block phospholipid scrambling by a G proteincoupled receptor, Struct. Lond. Engl. 30 (2022) 1208–1217.e2, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2022.05.010, 1993.
- [66] I. Menon, T. Sych, Y. Son, T. Morizumi, J. Lee, O.P. Ernst, G. Khelashvili, E. Sezgin, J. Levitz, A.K. Menon, A cholesterol switch controls phospholipid scrambling by G protein-coupled receptors, J. Biol. Chem. 300 (2024) 105649, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2024.105649.
- [67] G.N. Chiduza, A. Garza-Garcia, E. Almacellas, S. De Tito, V.E. Pye, A.R. van Vliet, P. Cherepanov, S.A. Tooze, ATG9B is a tissue-specific homotrimeric lipid scramblase that can compensate for ATG9A, Autophagy 20 (2024) 557–576, https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2023.2275905.
- [68] Y. Kong, P. Guo, J. Xu, J. Li, M. Wu, Z. Zhang, Y. Wang, X. Liu, L. Yang, M. Liu, H. Zhang, P. Wang, Z. Zhang, MoMkk1 and MoAtg1 dichotomously regulating autophagy and pathogenicity through MoAtg9 phosphorylation in Magnaporthe oryzae, mBio 15 (2024) e0334423, https://doi.org/10.1128/ mbio.03344-23.
- [69] S. Maeda, H. Yamamoto, L.N. Kinch, C.M. Garza, S. Takahashi, C. Otomo, N.V. Grishin, S. Forli, N. Mizushima, T. Otomo, Structure, lipid scrambling activity and role in autophagosome formation of ATG9A, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 27 (2020) 1194–1201, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41594-020-00520-2.
- [70] K. Matoba, T. Kotani, A. Tsutsumi, T. Tsuji, T. Mori, D. Noshiro, Y. Sugita, N. Nomura, S. Iwata, Y. Ohsumi, T. Fujimoto, H. Nakatogawa, M. Kikkawa, N.N. Noda, Atg9 is a lipid scramblase that mediates autophagosomal membrane expansion, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 27 (2020) 1185–1193, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41594-020-00518-w.
- [71] M. Orii, T. Tsuji, Y. Ogasawara, T. Fujimoto, Transmembrane phospholipid translocation mediated by Atg9 is involved in autophagosome formation, J. Cell Biol. 220 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.202009194.
- [72] D. Huang, B. Xu, L. Liu, L. Wu, Y. Zhu, A. Ghanbarpour, Y. Wang, F.-J. Chen, J. Lyu, Y. Hu, Y. Kang, W. Zhou, X. Wang, W. Ding, X. Li, Z. Jiang, J. Chen, X. Zhang, H. Zhou, J.Z. Li, C. Guo, W. Zheng, X. Zhang, P. Li, T. Melia, K. Reinisch, X.-W. Chen, TMEM41B acts as an ER scramblase required for lipoprotein biogenesis and lipid homeostasis, Cell Metabol. 33 (2021) 1655–1670.e8, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2021.05.006.
- [73] Y.E. Li, Y. Wang, X. Du, T. Zhang, H.Y. Mak, S.E. Hancock, H. McEwen, E. Pandzic, R.M. Whan, Y.C. Aw, I.E. Lukmantara, Y. Yuan, X. Dong, A. Don, N. Turner, S. Qi, H. Yang, TMEM41B and VMP1 are scramblases and regulate the distribution of cholesterol and phosphatidylserine, J. Cell Biol. 220 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.202103105.
- [74] Y. Ma, Y. Wang, X. Zhao, G. Jin, J. Xu, Z. Li, N. Yin, Z. Gao, B. Xia, M. Peng, TMEM41B is an endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ release channel maintaining T cell metabolic quiescence and responsiveness, 2023.12.25.573330, https:// doi.org/10.1101/2023.12.25.573330, 2023.
- [75] S. Zhang, Y. Hama, N. Mizushima, The evolution of autophagy proteins diversification in eukaryotes and potential ancestors in prokaryotes, J. Cell Sci. 134 (2021) jcs233742, https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.233742.

- [76] F. Okawa, Y. Hama, S. Zhang, H. Morishita, H. Yamamoto, T.P. Levine, N. Mizushima, Evolution and insights into the structure and function of the DedA superfamily containing TMEM41B and VMP1, J. Cell Sci. 134 (2021) jcs255877, https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.255877.
- [77] Y. Hama, H. Morishita, N. Mizushima, Regulation of ER-derived membrane dynamics by the DedA domain-containing proteins VMP1 and TMEM41B, EMBO Rep. 23 (2022) e53894, https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.202153894.
- [78] I.J. Roney, D.Z. Rudner, The DedA superfamily member PetA is required for the transbilayer distribution of phosphatidylethanolamine in bacterial membranes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 120 (2023) e2301979120, https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2301979120.
- [79] J.N.S. Vargas, M. Hamasaki, T. Kawabata, R.J. Youle, T. Yoshimori, The mechanisms and roles of selective autophagy in mammals, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 24 (2023) 167–185, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-022-00542-2.
- [80] E. Holzer, S. Martens, S. Tulli, The role of ATG9 vesicles in autophagosome biogenesis, J. Mol. Biol. (2024) 168489, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jmb.2024.168489.
- [81] T.J. Olivas, Y. Wu, S. Yu, L. Luan, P. Choi, E.D. Guinn, S. Nag, P.V. De Camilli, K. Gupta, T.J. Melia, ATG9 vesicles comprise the seed membrane of mammalian autophagosomes, J. Cell Biol. 222 (2023) e202208088, https:// doi.org/10.1083/jcb.202208088.
- [82] E. Mailler, C.M. Guardia, X. Bai, M. Jarnik, C.D. Williamson, Y. Li, N. Maio, A. Golden, J.S. Bonifacino, The autophagy protein ATG9A enables lipid mobilization from lipid droplets, Nat. Commun. 12 (2021) 6750, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26999-x.
- [83] A. Ballesteros, K.J. Swartz, Lipids surf the groove in scramblases, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 115 (2018) 7648–7650, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1809472115.
- [84] S. Chumpen Ramirez, R. Gómez-Sánchez, P. Verlhac, R. Hardenberg, E. Margheritis, K. Cosentino, F. Reggiori, C. Ungermann, -Atg9 interactions via its transmembrane domains are required for phagophore expansion during autophagy, Autophagy 19 (2023) 1459–1478, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15548627.2022.2136340.
- [85] A.R. van Vliet, G.N. Chiduza, S.L. Maslen, V.E. Pye, D. Joshi, S. De Tito, H.B.J. Jefferies, E. Christodoulou, C. Roustan, E. Punch, J.H. Hervás, N. O'Reilly, J.M. Skehel, P. Cherepanov, S.A. Tooze, ATG9A and ATG2A form a heteromeric complex essential for autophagosome formation, Mol. Cell 82 (2022) 4324–4339.e8, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2022.10.017.
- [86] Z. Tang, Y. Takahashi, H. He, T. Hattori, C. Chen, X. Liang, H. Chen, M.M. Young, H.-G. Wang, TOM40 targets Atg2 to mitochondria-associated ER membranes for phagophore expansion, Cell Rep. 28 (2019) 1744–1757.e5, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.07.036.
- [87] J.F.C. Glatz, J.J.F.P. Luiken, Time for a détente in the war on the mechanism of cellular fatty acid uptake, J. Lipid Res. 61 (2020) 1300–1303, https://doi.org/ 10.1194/jlr.6192020LTE.
- [88] W.-Y. Lin, W.Y. Chung, S. Muallem, The tether function of the anoctamins, Cell Calcium 121 (2024) 102875, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2024.102875.
- [89] A. Jha, W.Y. Chung, L. Vachel, J. Maleth, S. Lake, G. Zhang, M. Ahuja, S. Muallem, Anoctamin 8 tethers endoplasmic reticulum and plasma membrane for assembly of Ca2+ signaling complexes at the ER/PM compartment, EMBO J. 38 (2019) e101452, https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2018101452.
- [90] M. Petkovic, J. Oses-Prieto, A. Burlingame, LY. Jan, Y.N. Jan, TMEM16K is an interorganelle regulator of endosomal sorting, Nat. Commun. 11 (2020) 3298, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17016-8.
- [91] A.G. Manford, C.J. Stefan, H.L. Yuan, J.A. Macgurn, S.D. Emr, ER-to-plasma membrane tethering proteins regulate cell signaling and ER morphology, Dev. Cell 23 (2012) 1129–1140, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.devcel.2012.11.004.
- [92] W. Wolf, A. Kilic, B. Schrul, H. Lorenz, B. Schwappach, M. Seedorf, Yeast Ist2 recruits the endoplasmic reticulum to the plasma membrane and creates a

ribosome-free membrane microcompartment, PLoS One 7 (2012) e39703, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0039703.

- [93] J.M. D'Ambrosio, V. Albanèse, N.-F. Lipp, L. Fleuriot, D. Debayle, G. Drin, A. Čopič, Osh6 requires lst2 for localization to ER-PM contacts and efficient phosphatidylserine transport in budding yeast, J. Cell Sci. 133 (2020) jcs243733, https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.243733.
- [94] A.K.O. Wong, B.P. Young, C.J.R. Loewen, Ist2 recruits the lipid transporters Osh6/7 to ER-PM contacts to maintain phospholipid metabolism, J. Cell Biol. 220 (2021) e201910161, https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201910161.
- [95] S. Mesdaghi, D.L. Murphy, F. Sánchez Rodríguez, J.J. Burgos-Mármol, D.J. Rigden, In silico prediction of structure and function for a large family of transmembrane proteins that includes human Tmem41b, F1000Research 9 (2020) 1395, https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.27676.2.
- [96] A. Chen, W.-X. Ding, H.-M. Ni, Scramblases as regulators of autophagy and lipid homeostasis: implications for NAFLD, Autophagy Rep 1 (2022) 143–160, https://doi.org/10.1080/27694127.2022.2055724.
- [97] H. Hu, Z. Chen, S. Huang, C. Fu, L. Chen, TMEM41B, a novel ER phospholipid scramblase mediating systemic lipid metabolism, Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. 54 (2022) 1761–1764, https://doi.org/10.3724/abbs.2022168.
- [98] F. Bard, L. Casano, A. Mallabiabarrena, E. Wallace, K. Saito, H. Kitayama, G. Guizzunti, Y. Hu, F. Wendler, R. Dasgupta, N. Perrimon, V. Malhotra, Functional genomics reveals genes involved in protein secretion and Golgi organization, Nature 439 (2006) 604–607, https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature04377.
- [99] M.J. Janssen, M.C. Koorengevel, B. de Kruijff, A.I. de Kroon, Transbilayer movement of phosphatidylcholine in the mitochondrial outer membrane of Saccharomyces cerevisiae is rapid and bidirectional, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1421 (1999) 64–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-2736(99)00113-3.
- [100] M. Lampl, A. Leber, F. Paltauf, G. Daum, Import of phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylcholine into mitochondria of the yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, FEBS Lett. 356 (1994) 1–4, https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(94) 01197-4.
- [101] S. Villinger, R. Briones, K. Giller, U. Zachariae, A. Lange, B.L. de Groot, C. Griesinger, S. Becker, M. Zweckstetter, Functional dynamics in the voltagedependent anion channel, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107 (2010) 22546–22551, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1012310108.
- [102] S.E. Murthy, A.E. Dubin, T. Whitwam, S. Jojoa-Cruz, S.M. Cahalan, S.A.R. Mousavi, A.B. Ward, A. Patapoutian, OSCA/TMEM63 are an evolutionarily conserved family of mechanically activated ion channels, Elife 7 (2018) e41844, https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.41844.
- [103] S. Jojoa-Cruz, K. Saotome, S.E. Murthy, C.C.A. Tsui, M.S. Sansom, A. Patapoutian, A.B. Ward, Cryo-EM structure of the mechanically activated ion channel OSCA1.2, Elife 7 (2018) e41845, https://doi.org/10.7554/ eLife.41845.
- [104] Y. Han, Z. Zhou, R. Jin, F. Dai, Y. Ge, X. Ju, X. Ma, S. He, L. Yuan, Y. Wang, W. Yang, X. Yue, Z. Chen, Y. Sun, B. Corry, C.D. Cox, Y. Zhang, Mechanical activation opens a lipid-lined pore in OSCA ion channels, Nature 628 (2024) 910–918, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-024-07256-9.
- [105] A.J. Lowry, P. Liang, Y.C.S. Wan, Z.-M. Pei, H. Yang, Y. Zhang, TMEM16 and TMEM63/OSCA proteins share a conserved potential to permeate ions and phospholipids, 2024.02.04.578431, https://doi.org/10.1101/2024.02.04. 578431, 2024.
- [106] L. Bartoš, A.K. Menon, R. Vácha, Insertases scramble lipids: molecular simulations of MTCH2, Struct. Lond. Engl. 32 (2024) 505–510.e4, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.str.2024.01.012, 1993.
- [107] S. Vehring, L. Pakkiri, A. Schröer, N. Alder-Baerens, A. Herrmann, A.K. Menon, T. Pomorski, Flip-flop of fluorescently labeled phospholipids in proteoliposomes reconstituted with Saccharomyces cerevisiae microsomal proteins, Eukaryot. Cell 6 (2007) 1625–1634, https://doi.org/10.1128/EC.00198-07.